IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FRANK MONTE)	
Petitioner,)	
)	
vs.) Case No. SC11-259	
) L.T. Case Nos. 4D08-	1461
STATE OF FLORIDA,) 4D08-	1437
Respondent.)	
)	
)	

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Appeal from the Fourth District Court of Appeal

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

ELLEN GRIFFIN
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar No. 511889
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600
Appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 8
ARGUMENT 9
POINT I
THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THIS COURT'S DECISIONS ALLOW RETROACTIVE DETERMINATIONS OF COMPETENCY
POINT II
IF RETROACTIVE COMPETENCY HEARINGS ARE PERMISSIBLE, THEY ARE LIMITED TO POST CONVICTION PROCEEDINGS WHERE A DEFENDANT'S FIFTH AND SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS ARE SEVERLY LIMITED, THEREFORE THE FOURTH DISTRICT ERRED IN REMANDING PETITIONER'S CASE FOR A
POINT III
THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE HOLDING IN INDIANA V. EDWARDS COULD NOT BE APPLIED TO THE INSTANT CASE. PETITIONER'S CONVICTION SHOULD BE REVERSED FOR A NEW TRIAL; IN THE ALTERNATIVE, ANY NUNC PRO TUNC HEARING SHOULD INCLUDE AN EDWARDS DETERMINATION
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF FONT SIZE

AUTHORITIES CITED

Cases

Amendments to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.111, 17 So.
3d 272, 274 (Fla. 2009)
Arbelaez v. State , 898 So.2d 25 Fla. 2005)
Armstrong v. State, 773 So.2d 7 (Fla. 2000)
Brockman v. State , 852 So.2d 330 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2003)
Brown v. State, 449 So.2d 417 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984)
Calloway v. State, 651 So. 2d 752 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1995)
Carrion v. State, 859 So.2d 563 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2003)
Chadwick v. State, 309 S.W.3d 558 (Tex. App. 2010)
Cochrane v. State, 925 So.2d 370 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2006)
Culbreath v. State, 903 So. 2d 338 (Fla. 2 nd DCA 2005)
<pre>Dorris v. Commonwealth, 305 S.W. 3d 438 (Ky. App. 2010)</pre>
Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 95 S.Ct. 896, 43 L.Ed.2d 103 (1975)
Dusky v. State , 362 U.S. 402, 80 S.Ct. 788, 4 L.Ed.2d 824 (1960)
Elwell v. State. 61 So. 3d 1292

(Fla. 4 th DCA 2011)
Falcone v. State, 227 P.3d 469 (Ala. App. 2010)
Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1974)
Finkelstein v. State, 574 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1991)
Fowler v. State, 255 So.2d 513 (Fla. 1971)
Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389, 391 113 S. Ct. 2680, 125 L. Ed. 2d 321 (1993) 332
Hill v. State, 473 So.2d 1253 (Fla.1985)
Holland v. State, 634 So.2d 813 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1994)
Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164, 128 S.Ct. 2379, 171 L.Ed.2d 345 (2008)
<pre>Isreal v. State, 258 P.3d 893 (Ala. App. 2011)</pre>
Jackson v. State, 452 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1984)
Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986)
Jones v. State, 69 So.3d 329 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2011)
Jones v. State, 740 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1999)
Luckey v. State, 979 So.2d 353 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2008)
Mairena v. State , 6 So.3d 80 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2009)

Martin v. Estelle, 583 F.2d 1373 (5th Cir.1979)
Mason v. State, 489 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1986)
Maxwell v. Roe , 606 F.3d 561 (9 th Cir. 2010)
Maxwell v. State , 974 So.2d 505 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008)
Maynard v. Boone , 468 F.3d 665 (10 th Cir. 2006)
McGregor v. Gibson, 248 F.3d 946 (10th Cir. 2001)
McMurtrey v. Ryan , 539 F.3d 1112 (9th Cir. 2008)
Miami-Dade County v. Associated Aviation Underwriters, 983 So.2d 618(Fla. 3 rd DCA 2008)
Monte v. State, 51 So.3d 1196 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2011)
Muehleman v. State, 3 So.3d 1149 (Fla. 2009)
Nelson v. State , 274 So.2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973)
Odle v. Woodford, 238 F.3d 1084 (9 th Cir. 2000)
Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 86 S.Ct. 836, 15 L.Ed.2d 815 (1966) 10, 14, 20
<pre>Price v. State, 995 So.2d 401 (Fla. 2008)</pre>
<pre>Pridgen v. State, 531 So.2d 951 (Fla. 1988)</pre>
Reilly v. State, Dept. of Corrections, 847 F. Supp. 951 (M.D. Fla. 1994)

Rogers v. State, 16 So.3d 928 (Fla. 1 st DCA 2009)
Savoie v. State, 422 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1982)
Scott v. State, 420 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1982)
Smith v. State , 598 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1992)
State v. Baumruk, 280 S.W.3d 600 (Mo. 2009)
State v. Connor, 973 A.2d 627 (Conn. 2009)
State v. Lane, 707 S.E.2d 210 (N.C. 2011)
State v. Lewis, 785 N.W.2d 834 (Neb.2010)
State v. Wray, 698 S.E. 2d 137 (N.C. Cir. 2010)
Tennis v. State, 997 So.2d 375 (Fla.2008)
Tingle v. State, 536 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1988)
<pre>United States v. Makris, 535 F.2d 899 (5th Cir.1976)</pre>
United States v. Williams, 113 F.3d 1155 (10 th Cir. 1997)
Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. 153, 160, 108 S.Ct. 1692, 100 L.Ed.2d 140 (1988)
Williams v. State, 447 So.2d 356 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1984)

Rules of Criminal Procedure

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, Frank Monte, was the Appellant/Defendant and the Respondent, State of Florida, was the Appellee/prosecution in the proceedings below. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood in the lower courts, by proper name, or as Petitioner and Respondent. The symbol "R" will denote the Record on Appeal; the symbol "SR" will denote the Supplemental Record on Appeal; the symbol "T" will denote the Transcript on Appeal and the symbol "ST" will denote the Supplemental Transcript on Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Petitioner, Frank Monte, was charged by amended information, with two counts of aggravated stalking and one count of violation of a protective injunction (R3-4). The State nolle prossed one count of aggravated stalking. The named victim was Ray Anthony.

A.Pretrial - Dr. Block-Garfield, appointed at the request of defense counsel Resnick, found Petitioner competent to stand trial (SR1). After Petitioner's motion to discharge counsel was granted, Resnick informed the court that Petitioner was the least competent client he had ever represented and indicated that he had been discharged for questioning his competency (ST/2,P21-22).

The court ordered additional competency examinations. Dr. Brannon found Petitioner incompetent and Dr. Dann-Namer found him competent (SR4,10,13). No evidentiary hearing was held.

Petitioner was allowed to represent himself at trial with standby counsel R66, 68, 70; T9-10).

B. The State's Case - The state presented several witnesses who were employed by Ray Anthony. Bridgette Alfonso, Margaret Kline and Judy Scott each testified that Petitioner repeatedly called Anthony's businesses(T286-288,301). Alfonso stated that Petitioner referred to Anthony as a "sand n----r" and that he threatened the company's water system (T306, 320) Wordy Whidden, also an Anthony employee, testified that Petitioner had threatened to blow up their building (T399-400), 402-403). Jonathon Frink, another employee, confirmed that Petitioner had threatened Anthony, Anthony's family and Frink himself (T560). Petitioner threatened to kill someone named Sam. Anthony had a son and an employee named Sam (T562-563).

Ray Anthony, who was of Syrian descent, had been born and raised in Pennsylvania (T444). He met Petitioner in 1999 at one of his businesses. Petitioner was being considered for a job, but Anthony did not remember if he was hired(448-449). Petitioner came to Anthony's office with a loaded firearm in November of 2004. Anthony obtained preliminary and final injunctions for protection (T451-452). Anthony denied having

done anything to Petitioner and did not know why he was being harassed (T451).

Petitioner continued to contact Anthony at work and at home (T465). He threatened to rape or kill his daughter and repeatedly threatened to kill Anthony (T476, 501-502). Anthony moved after Petitioner left a note on the door of his house (T477-478).

Keith Schiller, director of security at the Trump Organization, received 10 or 12 calls from Petitioner (T374-375). Petitioner was very angry with Anthony and blamed him for destroying his life. Petitioner said Anthony had ties to terrorists and he threatened to harm or kill him (T375, 393). Schiller sent their recorded conversations to Detective Kessling (T376-377).

The State introduced phone records indicating that Petitioner made over 1000 calls to Anthony between June 20 and September 20, 2007 (T624). After being advised of his *Miranda* rights, Petitioner acknowledged the restraining order, agreed that he had violated it and stated that he would continue to do so (T680).

C. Petitioner's Actions at Trial -- During voir dire, prospective juror Bush said that he had heard that Anthony engaged in unfair business practices and referred to Petitioner

and Anthony as David and Goliath. The court told Petitioner to sit down and stop applauding (T211).

During Keith Schilling's cross examination, Petitioner said he believed that Anthony had terrorist ties based on comments made to him prior to September 11 (T394). He asked Schilling about an FBI terrorist report which allegedly came to the same conclusion and which Petitioner said had been delivered to his home(T392, 394).

While cross examining Anthony, Petitioner indicated that assaults and threats he had suffered at the hands of Anthony's associates justified his phone calls (T482-484).

Over Petitioner's cumulative evidence and authenticity objections, recordings of phone calls made to several witnesses were introduced (T530-531, 537). When more tapes were played, Petitioner objected, stating, "I think we all know I refer to Ray as a sand nigger, a.k.a. terrorist." (T539). He then insisted that the tapes be played in their entirety (T539, 541) and that he be allowed to subpoena the FBI, FDLE, and personal character witnesses (T539).

During cross examination of Detective Kessling, Petitioner made repeated references to Anthony's involvement with terrorists and the September 11 attacks. He repeatedly asserted that the FBI and FDLE approached him to help in their investigations (T681, 682, 683, 687, 727, 736, 737).

Also during Kessling's cross-examination, Petitioner said that he had referred to Anthony as a "sand nigger" because he affiliated with terrorists and those who wanted this country under martial law and laughed at the FBI (T685).

When the court asked Petitioner if he had any witnesses to present, he turned to the attorneys in the audience and asked if they wanted to testify, explaining "These are all people I paid in the past." (T804).

Appellant was convicted as charged on both counts (R123-124, T892-893).

Petitioner began his allocution by apologizing to Donald Trump and the Trump Organization (T911-912). He then stated that, even with his 139 IQ, he had trouble keeping up with the lies against him, including those in the presentence investigation (T912-913).

Petitioner denied that he had any psychiatric issues. He dismissed Dr. Brannon's report (T914) and stated "I didn't make it to where I'm at by having some mood disorder or psychological problem. I made it by superior intellect, and if there is anybody here that's a victim, it is truly me." (T915). He said "And the reason why I'm telling you this, is so the next time you people see me in business, you know you're in the presence of greatness and you will govern yourselves accordingly." (T917).

Petitioner concluded his allocution by stating that he had been surrounded by people in the car business and he knew what he had heard "And in my own house, FDLE told me they tried to recruit me, and they had him [Anthony]under investigation. Now, maybe I was pushing a little too hard to prove that point, so be it, but that statement remains." (T918-919). Petitioner said that FDLE had come to his house and listened to him:

And what they said, I can't say I'm shocked, it just confirmed what I kind of pieced together on my own being around all of these people pre 911. They, point blank, said and I don't want to list their names, but I will at the Fourth DCA, that these people tried to --recruiting (sic) me, and I asked them, point blank, I said, is Mr. Anthony under investigation, and they said, yes, he is.

(T927-928).

Petitioner adamantly asserted that he was not delusional. He stated the certain local police officers did not want him around because he had learned too much and could piece things together (T927-928). Petitioner concluded by asking the court to tell Anthony that "they missed the white house, and this country didn't fall on marshal (sic) law." (T933).

Petitioner was sentenced to five years in prison for aggravated stalking and a consecutive 365 days in the county jail for violating a protective order (R154-155, T934).

Appeal - On direct appeal, Petitioner argued that the trial court erred: in failing to renew an offer of counsel prior to

trial and prior to sentencing; in failing to conduct a competency hearing prior to trial and during trial when it became obvious such a hearing was needed; and, in allowing Petitioner to represent himself in light of the decision in Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164, 128 S.Ct. 2379, 171 L.Ed.2d 345 (2008),.

The Fourth District found that the trial court erred in failing to renew the offer of counsel prior to sentencing. Monte v. State, 51 So.3d 1196, 1202 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011). The District Court also held that the circuit court erred in failing to conduct the statutorily required competency hearing prior to trial. However, the Court remanded the case for a retroactive determinative of competency if the experts and their reports were available and the determination could be made. If not, a new trial was required. Id. at 1203. The Court also held that the decision in Edwards, did not grant substantive rights to defendants and declined to apply the 2009 amendment to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.111(d) (3) retroactively to Petitioner's case. Id.

Petitioner sought review in this Court based on express and direct conflict with decisions of this Court and other district courts which have held that retroactive determinations of competency are improper. This Court accepted jurisdiction on August 29, 2011.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I The Fourth District reversibly erred when it held that this Court's opinions in *Tingle* and *Tennis* allow retroactive determinations of competency. Retroactive determinations of competency violate a defendant's state and federal due process protections.

POINT II Even if this Court determines that retroactive competency hearings are permissible under certain limited circumstances, such a hearing was not appropriate in the instant case. In Florida, nunc pro tunc determinations of competency have only been permitted on remand in motions for conviction relief. Such hearings are civil in nature and the defendant's Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights are much more limited. However, the instant case is a direct appeal. A retroactive determination of competency would Petitioner's due process protections. The District Court's decision failed to instruct the trial court on protections to be afforded Petitioner in such a hearing, particularly in light of his pro se status.

POINT III It is evident from the record that Petitioner was not competent to represent himself and the trial court erred in allowing him to do so. The District Court erred in failing to review the case under the standard announced in *Indiana v.*Edwards. Petitioner's conviction was not final when Edwards was

decided and when Rule 3.111 was amended. Petitioner's conviction and sentence should be reversed. In the alternative, the trial court should also have been instructed to consider the *Edwards* standard before allowing Petitioner to represent himself at any retroactive competency hearing or at the new sentencing hearing.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THIS COURT'S DECISIONS ALLOW RETROACTIVE DETERMINATIONS OF COMPETENCY.

The standard of review for pure questions of law is de novo. Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000).

A. The Decision of the Fourth District Court

The Fourth District remanded for a competency hearing, relying on the holdings in Mason v. State, 489 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1986) and Brown v. State, 449 So.2d 417, 417 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), which state that there is no per se rule forbidding nunc protunc competency hearings in Florida. Monte, 51 So.2d at 1203. The court held such a hearing would be possible if the experts who evaluated Petitioner and their records were still available. Id.

The Fourth District's opinion acknowledges the First District's decision in **Rogers v. State**, 16 So.3d 928 (Fla. $1^{\rm st}$ DCA 2009) which questioned the continued viability of **Mason** in light of this Court's decision in **Tennis v. State**, 997 So.2d 375

(Fla.2008). *Id.* at 1204, n. 5. In *Tennis*, Justice Pariente had noted a competency hearing held prior to sentencing "was not relevant in establishing if the defendant had been competent to stand trial 'because a determination of competency cannot be retroactive.'" *Id.* 381 n.7. However, in the opinion below, the Fourth District held that Justice Pariente was only referring to the 'general' rule as applied to the defendant in *Tennis* and acknowledging that there were exceptions to that rule. *Id.*

B. Federal and Florida Law Regarding Retroactive Determinations Prior to Tingle.

The United State Supreme Court reversed the decision of the district court and rejected retroactive competency hearings in **Pate v. Robinson**, 383 U.S. 375, 377, 86 S.Ct. 836, 15 L.Ed.2d 815 (1966):

But we have previously emphasized the difficulty of retrospectively determining an accused's competence to stand trial. *Dusky v. United States*, 362 U.S. 402, 80 S.Ct. 788, 4 L.Ed.2d 824 (1960). The jury would not be able to observe the subject of their inquiry, and expert witnesses would have to testify solely from information contained in the printed record. That Robinson's hearing would be held six years after the fact aggravates these difficulties.

Id. 383 U.S. at 387.

Although this Court has allowed such hearings in the past, it has done so only under very limited circumstances. In *Fowler*v. State, 255 So.2d 513, 515 (Fla. 1971), the trial court failed to conduct an evidentiary hearing as to competency. The case was

temporarily remanded to the circuit court for a full evidentiary hearing with transcripts of that hearing to be included in the record to be returned to the Supreme Court if the defendant was found sane. *Id.* at 515-516.

However, in **Scott v. State**, 420 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1982), a 3.850 proceedings, this Court vacated the defendant's murder conviction and remanded for a new competency hearing, not a retroactive determination. **Id**. at 596. In doing so, it stated:

well-settled that there is substantial difficulty in retrospectively determining an accused's competence to stand trial. Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 86 S.Ct. 836, 15 L.Ed.2d 815 (1966). "In view of doubts and ambiguities regarding the legal significance of the psychiatric testimony in this case resulting difficulties of retrospectively determining ... competency," Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402, 403, 80 S.Ct. 788, 789, 4 L.Ed.2d 824 (1960), this Court believes that a new hearing is required to ascertain appellant's present competency to stand trial.

Id.

The First District's decision in *Williams v. State*, 447 So.2d 356, 357 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), has been relied upon by most courts which have held that retroactive determinations may be ordered in 3.850 proceedings. *Williams* held that neither the decision in *Drope v. Missouri*, 420 U.S. 162, 95 S.Ct. 896, 43 L.Ed.2d 103 (1975) nor various Florida rulings support "a *per se* rule requiring a new trial for failure to hold a competency hearing, regardless of the circumstances." *Id*. at 358. Relying

in part on the fact that this Court had not yet disavowed its opinion in *Fowler*, the court stated that its opinion was narrow and could be applied only to reject the trial court's conclusion that a determination of competency to stand trial could *never* be made retrospectively when the issue was *raised in a 3.850 motion*. *Id*. at 359.

Relying on *Williams*, the First District again remanded for a retroactive competency hearing in *Brown v. State*, 449 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). However, *Brown* contains no facts or procedural history. The Court simply stated that it had learned at oral argument that the doctors who examined the defendant were available to testify. The decision directed that those doctors should testify at any hearing and the court should consider "other evidence the state or the defense may offer." *Id. Brown* also held that a new trial must be granted should the trial court "determine that the defendant's competency in May, 1983, cannot be sufficiently established to protect his due process rights." *Id.* As the court relied on the narrow ruling in *Williams*, it must be assumed that *Brown* was also before the court on a motion for post conviction relief.

In **Mason v. State**, 489 So.2d 734, 735 (Fla. 1986), the other decision cited as authority by the Fourth District below, the defendant's murder conviction was challenged in a motion for post conviction relief. This Court emphasized that **Mason**

differed from other cases¹ because there was nothing in the record to indicate a pre-trial competency hearing was necessary.

Id. Mason's 3.850 claim was remanded for an evidentiary hearing to determine if the evaluating psychiatrists would have reached a different conclusion if they had the information uncovered after trial Id. at 736.

In allowing such a determination under those unusual circumstances, the Court stated that it agreed with the First District in Williams that there is no per se prohibition against retroactive competency determination regardless of the circumstances. Id. at 737. The Court noted that there may be enough expert and lay witnesses to offer pertinent evidence at a retrospective hearing and that "experts here will not have to rely upon a cold record or recent examination of the appellant, and the chances are therefore decreased that such a nunc protunc evaluation will be unduly speculative." Id.

Unlike the cases involving post conviction relief, **Pridgen**v. State, 531 So.2d 951 (Fla. 1988) was a direct appeal. This

Court held that the trial court erred in failing to stay sentencing, have the defendant reexamined by experts and conduct a new competency hearing when he exhibited signs of mental

¹ In particular the court mentioned *Hill v. State*, 473 So.2d 1253 (Fla.1985)

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