# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-259

# FRANK MONTE,

Petitioner,

- versus -

## STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO Assistant Attorney General Chief, West Palm Beach Bureau Florida Bar No. 0656879

HEIDI L. BETTENDORF Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0001805 1515 North Flagler Drive Ninth Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401-3432 Tel: (561) 837-5000 Fax: (561) 837-5099 E-Mail: DCAFilings\_4th@oag.state.fl.us

Counsel for Respondent

# **

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

### **Summary Of The Argument**

It is true that generally, a hearing to determine whether a defendant I. was competent to stand trial cannot be held retroactively. Tingle v. State, 536 So. 2d 202 (Fla. 1988). However, this Court has stated that there is no per se rule in Florida forbidding a nunc pro tunc competency determination under any circumstances. Mason v. State, 489 So. 2d 734, 737 (Fla. 1986) (citing State v. Williams, 447 So. 2d 356 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984)). Although this Court has acknowledged the inherent problems in conducting a retroactive competency evaluation in earlier cases such as Hill v. State, 473 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1985), it has also observed that a "court may find that there are a sufficient number of expert and lay witnesses who have examined or observed the defendant contemporaneous with trial available to offer pertinent evidence at a retrospective hearing." Mason, 489 So. 2d at 737 (quoting Martin v. Estelle, 583 F.2d 1373, 1375 (5th Cir. 1978); see also Williams, 447 So. 2d at 359. This Court's opinion in Tennis v. State, 997 So. 2d 375 (Fla. 2008), which omits a key word from the analysis, does not change this Court's prior precedent.

II. Retroactive competency determinations have never been limited to postconviction proceedings and there is nothing in the language of any case limiting the consideration of this issue to postconviction proceedings. Doing so

would be contrary to one of the considerations involved in determining whether a retroactive competency evaluation is appropriate in a particular case: the passage of time.

III. The trial court did not err in granting Petitioner's request to represent himself. While the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Edwards v. Indiana</u>, 128 S. Ct. 2379 (2008), makes clear that states may set a higher or different competence standard for self-representation than for trial with counsel, Florida had already done so at the time of Petitioner's trial. However, should this Court determine that the record does not support a showing that the trial court properly applied a heightened standard of competency, the Fourth District properly remanded for a competency hearing in light of <u>Edwards</u>, not for a new trial, as Petitioner suggests.

#### Argument

# I. THE FOURTH DISTRICT DID NOT ERR IN ORDERING REMAND TO THE TRIAL COURT FOR A RETROACTIVE COMPETENCY DETERMINATION.

The Fourth District found the trial court erred in not conducting a competency hearing because "sufficient grounds existed to question Monte's competency to stand trial . . . However . . . the mandatory subsequent competency hearing never occurred." Monte v. State, 51 So. 2d at 1202. Relying on this Court's opinion in Mason v. State, 489 So. 2d 734, 737 (Fla. 1986), the Fourth District remanded for a retroactive competency hearing: ". . . a retroactive determination of competency may be possible and legally permissible because three pre-trial psychological examinations have in fact already been performed and the records associated with those evaluations may remain available for review and consideration." Monte, 51 So. 2d at 1203. Petitioner claims the Fourth District's opinion remanding this case to the trial court for a retroactive determination of competency is erroneous and contrary to precedent from this Court and other **District Courts.** 

# A. <u>Florida Supreme Court Precedent</u>.

# 1. <u>Tennis v. State</u>.

Petitioner places the most reliance on this Court's opinion in Tennis v. State,

997 So. 2d 375 (Fla. 2008). Tennis raised multiple issues in the direct appeal of his conviction and sentence of death. However, this Court chose to address only one issue in the majority opinion: whether the trial court erred in failing to conduct a <u>Faretta</u> hearing after Tennis made multiple requests to represent himself. <u>Id.</u> at 376. Determining that the trial court committed error, this Court reversed and remanded for a new trial solely based upon its resolution of the <u>Faretta</u> issue:

In sum, we conclude that the trial court had no proper basis for failing to conduct a <u>Faretta</u> inquiry and that a <u>Faretta</u> inquiry was mandated after Tennis's unequivocal request for self-representation. Accordingly, we reverse Tennis's conviction for first-degree felony murder and vacate his sentence of death and remand for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

<u>Id.</u> at 380. Importantly, this Court noted that competency was never an issue during Tennis's trial or sentencing proceeding. <u>Id.</u> at 380, n.5. "The trial court here did not indicate that its reason for not considering Tennis's request for self-representation was as a result of doubts as to his mental competency." <u>Id.</u> at 379.

In a concurring opinion, Justice Pariente, joined by a majority of the Court, agreed with the majority opinion "reversing because of the trial court's failure to hold a hearing on Tennis's request for self-representation," but wrote to address her concerns regarding "why the trial judge did not allow Tennis to accept the State's offer . . . or, alternatively, to explain her reasons for rejecting the plea. <u>Id.</u> at 381.

Justice Pariente noted that if Tennis was not competent to accept the plea, then he was not competent to proceed to trial. Justice Pariente noted that the competency hearing held in Tennis's case after the guilt phase of trial was not relevant in establishing if Tennis had been competent to stand trial "**because a determination of competency cannot be retroactive**," citing to this Court's prior opinions in <u>Tingle v. State</u>, 536 So. 2d 202, 204 (Fla. 1988), and <u>Hill v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d 1253, 1259 (Fla. 1985). <u>Id.</u> at 382, n.7.

Petitioner sought and was granted conflict jurisdiction based on this language in <u>Tennis</u>, which was subsequently cited with approval in the First District's opinion in <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 16 So. 3d 928 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009).

### 2. <u>Tingle v. State</u>.

In <u>Tingle v. State</u>, 536 So. 2d 202 (Fla. 1988), this Court held that the trial court erred in denying a motion to determine competency where there were reasonable grounds to believe that the defendant may have been incompetent. This Court specifically stated that "a hearing to determine whether a defendant was competent at the time he was tried **generally** cannot be held retroactively." <u>Id.</u> at 204.

This Court's language in <u>Tingle</u> is clearly distinguishable from the broad statement contained in Justice Pariente's later concurring opinion in <u>Tennis</u>. The

omission of the word "generally" from Justice Pariente's reference to <u>Tingle</u> completely changes the meaning of this Court's holding. As noted by the Fourth District, when making the statement in <u>Tingle</u> regarding the "general" rule, this Court implied there were exceptions. <u>Monte</u>, 51 So. 3d at 1203 n.5. In <u>Tingle</u>, when this Court made its observations regarding the general rule, it specifically cited to its prior opinions in <u>Hill v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1985), and <u>Scott v. State</u>, 420 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1982).<sup>2</sup>

# 3. <u>Mason v. State</u>.

Importantly, in <u>Mason v. State</u>, 489 So. 2d 734, 737 (Fla. 1986), this Court stated that there is no <u>per se</u> rule in Florida forbidding a <u>nunc pro tunc</u> competency determination under any circumstances:

In spite of the problems involved in conducting a <u>nunc pro tunc</u> competency evaluation so well enunciated in <u>Hill</u>, we find that under these circumstances the "court may find that there are a sufficient number of expert and lay witnesses who have examined or observed the defendant contemporaneous with trial available to offer pertinent evidence at a retrospective hearing." <u>Martin v. Estelle</u>, 583 F.2d 1373, 1375 (5th Cir. 1979). The experts here will not have to rely upon a cold record or recent examination of the appellant, and the chances are therefore decreased that such a <u>nunc pro tunc</u> evaluation will be unduly speculative. <u>United States v. Makris</u>, 398 F. Supp. 507 (S.D. Tex. 1975), <u>aff'd</u> 535 F.2d 809 (1976), <u>cert. denied</u>, 430 U.S. 954, 97 S. Ct. 1598, 51 L. Ed. 2d 803 (1977).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Both of these cases are discussed more fully in Section I.A.4., <u>supra</u>.

We agree with the First District Court of Appeal's observation in <u>State v. Williams</u>, 447 So. 2d 356 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), that no <u>per</u> <u>se</u> rule exists in Florida forbidding a <u>nunc pro tunc</u> competency determination regardless of the surrounding circumstances. <u>See also</u> <u>Brown v. State</u>, 449 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) (remanding for <u>nunc pro tunc</u> evaluation when original experts available to testify). Should the trial court find, for whatever reason, that an evaluation of Mason's competency at the time of the original trial cannot be conducted in such a manner as to assure Mason due process of law, the court must so rule and grant a new trial.

Thus, in <u>Mason</u>, this Court clearly and consistently evaluated the factors involved in conducting a retroactive competency determination, but nonetheless determined that remand for a determination as to whether such a retroactive determination could be conducted would be appropriate in Mason's case.

In the case at bar, the Fourth District, consistent with this Court's holding in <u>Mason</u>, remanded for a determination of whether a retroactive competency determination could be made. Importantly, the record in the case at bar contains three competency evaluations performed in the few weeks immediately prior to trial.

# 4. <u>Hill v. State</u> and <u>Scott v. State</u>.

In <u>Hill v. State</u>, this Court determined that Hill's due process rights would not be adequately protected by a retroactive competency hearing performed sixteen years after the trial. While recognizing that such a determination would not be appropriate in Hill's case, this Court recognized the concept that such retroactive determinations are not strictly forbidden:

The question remains whether petitioner's due process rights would be adequately protected by remanding the case now for a psychiatric examination aimed at establishing whether petitioner was in fact competent to stand trial in 1969. Given the inherent difficulties of such a <u>nunc pro tunc</u> determination under the most favorable circumstances, see <u>Pate v. Robinson</u>, 383 U.S., at 386-87 [86 S. Ct. at 842-43]; <u>Dusky v. United States</u>, 362 U.S., at 403 [80 S. Ct. at 789], we cannot conclude that such a procedure would be adequate here.

473 So. 2d at 1258-59. Clearly, this Court's decision in <u>Hill</u> did not completely foreclose the possibility of conducting a retroactive competency determination. This Court merely determined that such was not a reasonable possibility in Hill's case and remanded for a new trial if it was determined that Hill would be competent for his retrial. <u>Id.</u> at 1260.

Similarly, in <u>Scott v. State</u>, this Court determined that the trial court erred in failing to conduct a competency hearing prior to trial. 420 So. 2d at 597. This Court then moved on to determine whether a retroactive competency determination would be appropriate in Scott's case. Because no competency evaluations were conducted at the time of trial and it was not possible to make a retroactive competency determination, this Court reversed Scott's conviction and remanded for a new trial once it was determined Scott was competent. Id. Again, this Court

refused to foreclose the possibility of conducting a retroactive competency determination.

### B. <u>First District Court of Appeal</u>.

Petitioner places heavy reliance, and argued in support of conflict jurisdiction, based on the opinion of the First District in Rogers v. State, 16 So. 3d 928 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009). In Rogers, the First District had already reversed the murder conviction in a prior appeal. Id. at 930; Rogers v. State, 954 So. 2d 64, 65 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007). The issue presented to the First District after remand was whether the trial court exceeded its authority on remand when it conducted a competency determination to determine whether Rogers was competent at the time of her original trial and concluded that she was. Id. at 931. Thus, the issue was the scope of authority granted to the trial court on remand, not whether a retroactive determination of competency could ever be made: "the prior panel's decision reversing in the present case did not order a retrospective determination and laid down no conditions under which a post hoc competency hearing might be possible." Id. at 932.

The portion of the opinion relied upon by Petitioner for conflict jurisdiction recognizes that the First District was not reaching the question of whether a retroactive competency determination could ever be made: "We need not reach the question, therefore, whether on general principles a retroactive determination would ever - since the decision in <u>Tennis v. State</u>, 997 So. 2d 375, 382 (Fla. 2008) - be permissible." <u>Id.</u> at 931, n.5. The Court further recognized that "[w]hile the Florida Supreme Court has, even on direct appeal, remanded for a retrospective determination of a defendant's competence at the time of trial, it has only done so explicitly and only in unmistakable language." <u>Id.</u> at 931-32.

# C. <u>Other Jurisdictions</u>.

# 1. Federal Court Precedent.

The general rule is that retrospective determinations of a defendant's competency are disfavored under United States Supreme Court precedent because of "the inherent difficulties of such a <u>nunc pro tunc</u> determination under the most favorable circumstances." <u>Drope v. Missouri</u>, 420 U.S. 162, 183 (1975). <u>See also Pate v. Robinson</u>, 383 U.S. 375, 386–87 (1966) (stating "we have previously emphasized the difficulty of retrospectively determining an accused's competence to stand trial. The jury would not be able to observe the subject of their inquiry, and expert witnesses would have to testify solely from information contained in the printed record. That [defendant's] hearing would be held six years after the fact aggravates these difficulties."); <u>Dusky v. United States</u>, 362 U.S. 402, 403 (1960) (remanding the case to the District Court for a new competency hearing in light of

the "difficulties of retrospectively determining the petitioner's competency as of more than a year ago[.]").

Nonetheless, federal circuit courts have concluded that a "meaningful" determination is possible "where the state of the record, together with such additional evidence as may be relevant and available, permits an accurate assessment of the defendant's condition at the time of the original state proceedings." Reynolds v. Norris, 86 F.3d 796, 803 (8th Cir. 1996) (finding that a four year lapse of time between the initial competency hearing and proposed retrospective hearing would not prevent an accurate assessment in light of the "the unusual amount of contemporaneous evidence specifically relating to [defendant's] competency."). Additionally, "[w]hen determining whether a meaningful hearing may be held, we look to the existence of contemporaneous medical evidence, the recollections of non-experts who had the opportunity to interact with the defendant during the relevant period, statements by the defendant in the trial transcript, and the existence of medical records. The passage of time is not an insurmountable obstacle if sufficient contemporaneous information is available." Reynolds, 86 F.3d at 803 (citations omitted). See also United States v. Giron-Reyes, 234 F.3d 78, 83 (1st Cir. 2000) (remanding for potential retrospective competency determination); United States v. Auen, 846 F.2d 872, 878 (2d Cir. 1988) (same);

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